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At five minutes to eight in the morning on November 28, 1994, four of
Wisconsin’s most infamous convicted murders walked into the gym at CCI, the state’s
one and only double maximum-security prison.

By 10 o’clock that moming two of those inmates would be dead, at the hands of a
third. _

I am that 4% inmates, and this is my story....



PROLOGUE

Well first things first, I suppose we should get this out of the way before we even
begin. Let me be perfectly honest, I'm telling you right now, I'm a liar. Bordering on the
pathological. I always lie, and when I'm not lying, I’'m either thinking about lying, or
wondering why I'm not lying, while I wait to tell another lie. Perhaps I'm lying right
now. So, if you’re one of those self-righteous uppity control freaks that abhors a liar then
we should stop right now and go our separate ways, because like I said, ’'m a liar. And
that’s the closest to the truth that I’'m ever going to get.

It’s not like I'm doing you any favors getting that out of the way. Surely the first
thing that those who wish to discredit me are going to tell you is, “You can’t take his
word for anything! He’s a natural bom liar. A convict! A murderer!” And all of that is
true. I just figured that I’d beat them to the punch. Take some of the sting out of their
words.

Anyway, now that we’ve gotten that out of the way and you’re still here I can
continue with my little fairy tale. I was arrested at the ripe old age of eighteen and I've
been incarcerated ever since. I'm one of those rare convicts who is willing to readily
admit that I did exactly what the judge, the jury and everyone else who knows anything
about my case says I did. I am one hundred percent, beyond a shadow of a doubt, guilty
as charged.

What did I do to get myseif in trguble? I shot and killed a couple of people. Back
on May 2, 1993 for no apparent reason I walked into the local cop shop and started
shooting people. The police took offense to my behavior and started shooting back. I hit
some of them, they hit some of me, I went down and was taken into custody.

Why’d I go and do a fool thing like that? I’'m not sure. Because they were there.
Because it seemed like a good idea at the time. It was just one of those days. I was young,
1 was mad, I had a gun, people died. Shit happens. Oops, my bad. To this day I still don’t
fully understand why I did what I did and the older I get and the more I think about it, the
less I understand.

Having been caught in the act, my only chance of beating the charges was to
plead not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect. (NGI) 1% of all defendants plead
NGI and 1% of those pleas are successful. My lawyer and I were hoping that my case
contained enough bizarro elements to be successful. NGI is an affirmative defense, which
means the defendant bears the burden of proving their case by a preponderance of the
evidence, not the much higher standa{d of beyond a reasonable doubt. My lawyer



presented my case, the state presented theirs, and after less then two hours of deliberating
the jury sided with my opposition. :

At my sentencing when Judge Gavinski asked me if 1 had anything to say my
complete statement was, “No.”

There was nothing else for me to do but file my appeal.

Am [ sorry? I’'m sorry 1 was canght. But am I sorry about what I did? I don't
know. At this point in our relationship, I’m not going to insult your intelligence telling
you that I’'m all broken up because some strangers got snuffed. It always amuses me how
during sentencing the defendant stands up and tearfully exclaims how they have to live
with what they did for the rest of their life as if that’s some terrible burden and should be
sufficient punishment. I mean, don’t get me wrong, if I thought that a bunch of empty
words and a face full of tears would have knocked a few years off my bill, I'd a dropped
more water than the Niagara Falls during the rainy season. But my lawyer had told me
from the beginning that if the jury found me guilty and held me criminally responsible,
. the judge was going to give me every day I had coming. If being found guilty is so
painful then why don’t more defendants ease their pain and kill themselves? It couldn’t
be that bad because they rarely do. :

The truth is, I've never been one who felt things deeply, and like I said, I'd never
met those peopie before that fateful day, so after giving it some serious thought, I think
the best I can do for you is say, “I was wrong. I shouldn’t have done that.”
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After I was arrested, tried, found guilty and not legally insane 1 was sent to the
Perdition Correctional Institution (PCI). All inmates sentenced to do time in Wisconsin
are initially sent to PCI for Receiving and Orientation. Prior to 1980, PCI was called St.
Clouds and was the state’s second largest mental hospital. That was until President
Reagan got this crazy idea that the mentally ill had a constitutional right not to be fed,
clothed, sheltered, and otherwise taken care of on the government dime. During his eight
years in office, he loaded the federal courts with likeminded individuals and soon the
courts started evicting the loonies. So, the next time you come across some homeless
lunatic peeing on your porch, begging for spare change or loitering in the local library be
sure to say thank you Ronnie. '

Without enough bodies to keep the place fully functional as a funny farm, the
state simply switched the sign out front from hospital to correctional institution and was
back in the business of boarding bodies. More than one past patient was evicted, arrested,
brought back as a convicted felon, and put in the same room/cell he had before.

While at PCI new arrivals will have their records reviewed. They will be given a
physical, and a dental check up and tested for schooling, alcohol or drug dependency,
signs of mental illness, STDs and assigned a security classification before being shipped
off to a more permanent prison. This can take anywhere from two weeks to several
months, with six weeks being the norm.

As a convicted, multiple murderer, .it was obvious that I was going to be sent to a
maximum-security prison, rather than medium or minimum. At the time Wisconsin had
three other maximum-security prisons. besides PCI. There was Vilas Correctional
Institution (VCI) Ossuary Correctional Institution (OCI) and Chamel Correctional
Institution (CCI). CCI was the newest gem in the DOC crown jewel.

While at PCI one of my c¢ellmates, Rooster, a long haired, redheaded,
mechanic/armed robber, two time loser, told me that Vilas was easily the best max and I
should try to get sent there. So when I went to see the Program Review Committee (PRC)
I told them I wanted to be housed at VCI and Mr. Lauffe, the head of the committee told
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me, “No. I was too young.” At that time you had to be over twenty-five to go to VCIL
Normally inmates under twenty-five were sent to OCL The logic being that the DOC
wanted to keep younger and older ihmates separated. They’ve since changed that
reasoning. Now they believe that older inmates did a good job of policing the younger -
ones and thus nowadays if you happened to be unfortunate enough to find yourself at PCI
they might send you anywhere. As a consolation prize PRC told me that I could either go
to OCI or CCI. I chose CCI sunply because it was closer to home, which I hoped meant
more visits.

Since there was some serious questions as to my mental stability when I arrived at
CCI instead of going to the Receiving and Orientation Unit (R&O) like most fresh meat
did, I was sent straight to one of the Special Management Units. And that’s where I was
the first time Wisconsin’s most prolific serial killer spoke to me.

It was a Saturday night in early May of 94. 1 was in cell 47 on lower B range. 1
was kneeling on my bed smoking a cigarette and staring out the window. As usual [ was
busy feeling sorry for myself and wishing I was anywhere but here when out of the
corner of my eye I saw Captain Bauchlatscher and several of his subordinates come
charging out of the administration building and take off running across the courtyard in
the direction of units one and two. .

First responders racing to unit one or two wasn’t that rare an occurrence since
that’s where the institution housed a higher percentage of the younger inmates who when
not busy making like Public Enemy and fighting the power that be, were busy beating on
each other. About haifway there Bauchlatscher tripped, stumbled and fell face first on the
sidewalk. It was the kind of fall that you knew had to hurt. It looked a lot like that famous
photo of Pete Rose stealing home doing his best imitation of superman. You know the
one where both of his arms where straight out above his head and his whole body was
parallel to the planet. Only Bauchlatscher’s slide was going to skin palms, bruise more
than just his ego, and maybe cost some chin whiskers. It happened so fast I didn’t have
time to laugh.

The captain was a good sport about it. When Officer Mietze stopped and tried to
help him to his feet he slapped her hand away. Bauchlatscher jumped up, brusquely
brushed off his pants legs around the knees and started to take off. He fell again and this
time I was ready. I did my best impression of Nelson from The Simpsons, and shouted
HA-HA. When none of them looked in my. direction I said it again even louder. Only by
this time they were gone.

It was funny because it was a captam It was funny because [ was bored and
crying for a laugh. But mostly it was funny because for one of the few times in my life
something shitty was happening to someone else and instead of being the accused I got to
be a witness.

“What channel are you on?”’ my neighbor to my left in 46, the last cell on the
range, hollered while simultaneously banging on the cinderblock wall we shared.

“I’'m not watching any channel.”

“Then what’s so funny?” '

“You missed it. A whiteshirt just | fell down and bust his shit.”

“Which one?”

lews o I
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I could tell from the sound of his voice that the necrophiliac next door had came
to his window. We were now less than twelve inches away even though we couldn’t see
each other. '

“Bauchlatscher,” 1 answered.

“The administrative captain?”

“Yeah”

“Where is he?”

“He’s gone now. He went into umt one.”

“So you think it’s funny when someone hurts themselves?”

“Yes. Yes I do.”

“Sodo L.”

“Especially him. I can’t stand that douche bag.”

“Why?” _

“He’s the SOB who sentenced me to the SMU.”

“Where would you rather be?”

“You mean besides at home? GP.”

“What’s the difference? How’s life any better in general population?”

“In GP they don’t have any levels. You're either in GP or you’re in seg. You
don’t have to wait or work your way up a level system to earn so-called privileges like
rec and dayroom and showers. But best of all, you’re not surrounded by a bunch of shit
smearing Smurfs and other goofbalis who don’t know how to close their mouths when
they eat or brush their teeth, comb their hair or wipe the boogers out of their eyes before
coming to breakfast, lunch or dinner.,”

“I] don’t know what you're complammg about,” he said. “When 1 first got here
Bauchlatscher put me in protective custody. I had to wait to get to the SMU before I
could start earning privileges like rec and dayroom and showers.”

“I'm not trying to be rude or anything but .

“Yes you are. Any time anyone starts a sentence with, I'm not trying to be rude,
that’s exactly what they’re trying to be. If they weren’t trying to be rude then they
wouldn’t say whatever it is they are about to say.”

“To be rude or not to be, that is ﬂot the question. The question is, how does your
misery make my life better?” :

“I guess it doesn’t.”

“That’s right,” I said tmstmg around leaning over and grabbing a cigarette off
my desk. “How long were you in the PC?

“Eighteen months.”

“Damn. That’s a long time.”

“It wasn’t so bad. Once you get ‘used to it, set up a routine, it’s actually kind of
peaceful. You get room service. You don’t have to stand for count. You never have to get
dressed or put your shoes on. It’s kind of nice actually.”

“Why did they let you out?”

“At the time I was here on parole revocation waiting to go to trial. After [ was
railroaded and shipped back here the administration had to figure out what to do with me.
They couldn’t keep me in protective custody forever.”

“Why not?” _
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“It’s bad for business, The one thing control freaks hate more than anything else
is the idea that they aren’t in control,” he saJd “By the way, what’s your name?”

“Liar.”

“What did you call me?”

“I didn’t call you anything. You asked me what my name was, and I told you, it’s
Liar.”

*“I thought it was Raconteur.”
“Raconteur is my government hame. That’s the name the police use to get my
attention, Are you a cop?”

“Do I look like a cop?”

“Now that you mention it. You do a little.”

“Well I'm not.”

“Then call me Liar.”

“Only if you tell me why they call you that?”

“Because when I was little I was the neighborhood Christopher Columbus. I was
always discovering things like money, bikes, new toys, and bringing them home. Then
when the natives got restless and complained to my parents my dad would get mad and
shout, ‘why you fucking little liar’ as he took off his belt. This happened so often my
brothers and sisters started calling me Liar. Then the neighborhood kids, classmates and
now everyone who ain 't a cop does.”

“That’s funny.”

“Only a true sadist would find humor in a child abuse story.”

“T think it’s hilarious.” o

“Me too.” L

“Did you come up with that yourself?”

iiYeah ¥

“Is it true?”

“Does it matter?” I said taking a drag from my dub.

“Not really.”

“And you are?”

“ID. Actually it’s Jeff. But even the police call me JD.”

“Pleased to meet you JD.” :

“The pleasure’s all mine.”

“What’s on your mind?”

“What time is it?”

“A quarter to eight.”

“What are you doing?”

‘“Nothing really,” I said continuing to stare out the window. “I’'m just killing time
while I wait for time to kill me.”

“Are you going to watch America’s Most Wanted?”

“Probably not, seeing as I don’t have a TV.”

“You don’t?”

“Nope.” _

“Man, I wish you would have said something sooner. I just mailed out a brand
new set.”

“Why’d you do that?”

.....
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“I already have one.”

“Then why did you buy another one?”

“I didn’t. A fan from Philly sent it to me and since I can’t have two, I had to pay
to ship it home. You could’ve saved me the postage.”

“Does that happen a lot?”

“Does what happen a lot?”

“People sending you stuff you don’ twant or need.”

“I wouldn’t say a lot, but from time to time. For some reason people I've never
met write me letters, send me money or cards. A lot of them say they’re praying for me.
That if ever I need someone to talk to they’re there for me. I've even gotten a couple of
marriage proposals and a bunch of bibles. It seems every week since I got here I’ve
gotten at least one bible,” JD said before pausing to blow a cloud of cigarette smoke out
his window. “Do you want one?”

“No thanks.”

“Well if you change your mind let me know.”

“Don’t hold your breath. I've had enough religion crammed down my throat to
last two lifetimes.”

“What religion are you?”

“I was raised Catholic, but now I'm a lapsed Atheist.”

“If you had a TV what would you be watching?”

“Not a cop show, that’s for sure,” I said. “The only thing I hate more then cops,
are shows that glorify cops.”

“Everyone hates the police until they need them.”

“Are you saying you don’t?”

“No. Why would I?”

“Why wouldn’t you?”

“Because my Nanna is eighty-five years old and I sleep better knowing that if she
ever has any problems help is just a phone call away.”

“Yeah, well I have a seventy-five year old horribly racist grandma, and if
someone were to hang her from a tree I would want the fattest cop on the force to come
and swing from her ankles.”

“What does any of this have to do with watching cop shows?”

“They’re a waste of time. You already know who’s going to win. What’s the pomt
of watching if you already know how it ends? Why would any criminal want to watch a
show where our enemies always win?”

“I’m not a criminal.”

“Oh, no, then what are you?” -

“T happen to suffer from a mental illness,” he said. “Just because society, in it’s
never ending need to punish that which 1t fears or doesn’t understand, doesn’t make my
mental illness any less real.”

“Hotd on a second,” I said. “I need to write that shit down.”

“Besides, America’s Most Wanted isn’t a cop show.”

“It s even worse because it’s supposed to be real,” I said. “Besides, I hate John
Walsh.

“Are you serious?”

10
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“As a heart attack. I seriously hate old white dudes who dye their hair, put on
expensive leather jackets and suddenly they think they’re tough. But truth be told, mostly
I hate that show because every time I see:him he reminds me of my dear old dad.”

“] didn’t know he was Puerto Rlcan »

“He’s not.”

“I thought you were Puerto Rlcan ”

“I get that a lot.” :

“What are you?”

“QGuess.”

“Well if you’re not Puerto Rican, I'd say Dominican.”

“Nope.”

“Native?”

“Nope.”

“Mexican?”

“Nope.”

“Middle Eastern?”

“Nope.”

“What than?”

“Keep guessing.”

“No L .

“I'm one hundred percent mulatto

Yeah, that’s right. It appears that this is just another one of those tragic mulatto
* stories. As a light skinned mulatto I’ve been called everything from an Arab to a Zulu
princess. I never go out of my way to clarify the situation, but if someone asks me point
blank what race I’m reppin’ I'll tell them, but only after we play the guessing game.

“So your dad is white and your mom is black. That’s pretty rare,” JD said.
“Nowadays it’s usually the other way around »

“I didn’t say that.”

“Your old man must be white if he renunds you of John Walsh,”

“Not necessarily.”

“What else could it be?”

“What if I was adopted?”

“Were you?”

“Maybe,” I snapped realizing I’d pmbably just volunteered too much information
about myself.

“Me too.”

“No you weren’t,”

“Sure 1 was. 1 was adopted when my dad remarried,” JD insisted. “Are your
adoptive parents still in your life?”

“Kind of.”

“Then why don’t you ask them to buy you a television?”
“I did. Several times.”
“What’d they say?”
“They said that [ wasn’t in pnson to watch TV. I was here to think about what I"d
done to get myself sent here. So if I want a TV then I’m going to have to figure out
another way of getting one.”

11
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“Have you?”

“I’'m working on some thmgs

“Like what?”

“I have a job.”

“Where?”

“In the gym. I also brought some ‘markers and colored pencils from the canteen so
I can draw. I brought some paint from the hobby department so I can start painting.”

“What do you draw?” :

“I like to create greeting cards. :Birthday, Christmas, Valentines day. I can do
them all, but they don’t sell very well because the canteen has a better selection and the
chapel gives donated cards away for free. I can’t compete with free, so now I mainly
draw cartoon figures on envelopes.”

“Which cartoons?”

“Garfield, Calvin and Hobbs. Hagar the Hormible. Maybe some Peanuts
characters.”

“What kind of money do you make doing that?”

“Not much. I usually sell them for a stamp or a pouch of tobacco, depending on
the amount of detail I add. Are you interested? Do you want to see some?”

‘No thanks. I rarely write anyone so I don’t have much use for stamps or
envelopes. What do you paint?”

“Right now I’m working on some portraits. Nothing you’d be interested in.”

“How do you know?” .

“*Cause you're not black.”

“So0.”

“All of my portraits are going to be of famous African-Americans.”

“And I have to be black to appreciate that?”

“You don’t have to be, but it helps.”

“T love black people.” _

“You love us to death,” I mumbled.

“What?” .

“Nothing.”

“What made you decide to paint them?”

“Quite a few reasons actually. I need to practice. I had to start somewhere. [ want
to learn more about African-American q__u__lture and history, but most of all I figured that
with all the brothers here someone would be sure to buy them.”

“Who are you painting now?”

“T’ve decided to start with Martin Luther King Jr.”

“Now you see that’s somethmg I would be interested in buying if the price is
right. How much do you want for it?”

“I don’t know. I haven’t finished it yet. It depends on how it comes out.”

“Well let me know. I bet we could work something out and yvou would have that
TV in no time. Do you really hate John Walsh?”

“With a passion that burns so hot my asshole shoots flames when [ fart.”

“Then you’ll probably like this,” JD said lowering his voice t0 a whisper. “But
I’'m not sure I should tell you.”

“Then don’t.”

L 12
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“Can I trust you?” '

“Of course you can, said the 11ar

“They think I killed his kid.”

“Who thinks you killed Adam?” -

“He does. Thc Miami Police Dcpartmcnt Some detectives from down there came
and interviewed me.’

“Did you?”

“Did I what?”

“Kill Adam.”

“Qops, I gotta to go. America’s Most Wanted is about to start.”

13
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The Chamel Correctional Institution is located fifty miles east of Milwaukee. It
was built on one hundred and fifteen acres of swampland. CCI is the state’s highest
security prison and is commonly referred to as a “doublemax.” I’'m not suggesting that
Wisconsin invented the word. I'm saying that like a lot of criminal justice ideas, DOC
officials in Wisconsin copied what they heard about from other states. And like any self-
respecting state, the people who get to make these types of decisions decided they
couldn’t live without a doublemax of their very own. .

Prior to opening CCI, Wisconsin officials disliked the idea of owning and
operating prisons so much that they actually sold the Kennedy Correctional Institution to
the federal government for one dollar. Not by coincidence around this time they also
changed the name of all state prisons from prison to correctional institution. Therefore,
technically, there are no prisons in Wisconsin. A rose by any other name is still the same.
On January 1, 1984 the Schultz construction company, a well-connected entity broke
ground. Chamel started taking bodies in the spring of 1986.

And I'm here to tell you that in my not so humble opinion, CCI was built on a lie.
Wisconsin never needed this prison. The most obvious question is, if they couldn’t live
without this place prior to it being built then how did they ever survive up to that point?

- Easy, Wisconsin simply traded their twenty or thirty truly unruly inmates with the

Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP) for federal prisoners who needed to be in protective
custody like .child molesters, snitches, and convicted cops. The Feds liked that
arrangement so much they made sure that the Wisconsin DOC understood that they
would like to continue doing business with them. Yet Wisconsin’s politicians and other
prison profiteers still insisted on spending tens of millions of taxpayer dollars building
and running their very own little house of horrors.

Let me ask you this, if CCI was specifically built to house the state’s most
dangerous criminals, then why within five years of the place opening did they start
doubling up? How does throwing two dangerous men in a cell specifically designed and
built for one extraordinarily dangerous man lessen the danger? It doesn’t, and they know
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it. They just needed to say those things to get the place built, knowing all along that once
the doors opened, the DOC would be free to operate it anyway they saw fit. In fact this
worked so well they would run the same scam again fifteen years later. Only this time
instead of cailing it a doublemax, the magic word was “supermax.”

Being a doublemax prison means that at CCI if an inmate isn’t on a specific
assignment, such as working, ih school, at recreation, library, dayroom or on a visit, they
were locked in their cell. This means that even under the best of circumstances most
inmates were going to spend a minimum of sixteen hours a day locked in, more often
than not closer to twenty. And while these were nice cells, as far as cells go, they weren’t
that nice.

I wanted a TV to help me pass the time. I needed a TV to get lost in and whittle
away some of the endless hours. One way or the other I was going to get one. I was well
aware of the fact that JD was probably pulling my leg. I may have been trying to
convince the courts I was crazy, but that doesn’t mean I'm out of my mind. The chances
of him buying me, or having his people send me a TV were between Slim and none and
Slim just got an early parole and immediately absconded. But desperate times call for
desperate measures, so I was going to do my best to make it happen.

I turned around, fluffed up my pillow and picked up the book I was reading,
Manchild in the Promised. 1 tried to read, but I couldn’t concentrate. My mind kept
racing back to JD. What he did and what I knew about him. After reading a couple of
pages and realizing I had no idea of what I'd just read I put down my book, got out of
bed, and started pacing. Fifteen steps to the door. Tumn left. Fifteen steps back to the bed.
Tumn right. It was important to altemate left turn, right turn to even out the wear and tear
on my shoes. Back and forth, back and forth. I’ve spent so much time pacing my cell 1
could practically do it with my eyes closed.

Even though we were neighbors, had been for weeks and quite often had to pass
each other going to and from our cells for meals, dayroom, showers or what have you, up
until this evening JD and I had never spoken to each other. I don’t know what his reason
was, but my feeling was that as CCI's most infamous inmate I thought JD possessed a
diva like attitude. There was a certain smugness, an arrogance to his demeanor. Like a lot
of B-rated celebrities, he knew that everyone knew who he was. They stared, pointed and
whispered about him. Some approached him and tried to taik to him. Some asked him for
an autograph, while others threatened him, cussed him out and spit on him. Many of them
weren’t even that civil. One particularly aggressive convict caught him coming out of
church and tried to cut his head off with a razor melted into a toothbrush.

JD was a convicted pedophile, registered sex offender, accused cannibal, and
homosexual serial killer who in the past decade killed more people than polio. If I
remember correctly JD was thirty-two years old when he first arrived at CCI. He was a
tall skinny white guy with short dirty biond hair and a silly looking mustache that made
him look like a gay 70°s porn star. I :know, I know, describing a man with a thick
mustache as a gay 70’s porn star has been done so many times that it’s now a cliché. But
that doesn’t make the description any less accurate. Especially given the fact that JD was
a moe with a mustache and hundreds of his own personal videos and Polaroids.

Like a lot of truly twisted people throughout history JD could best be described as
quiet and extraordinarily polite. But isn’t that what the neighbors always say? The
overweight housewife dressed in a bathrobe, with the curlers in her hair and a couple of
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crumb snatchers at her feet, who refuses to open her apartment door out of fear she might
get molested, as if she couid be so lucky, said, “Oh, he was such a nice young man,
always paid his rent on time and was good with small children and pets.” Then one night
the police show up, search his apartment, find a bunch of dismembered bodies and
suddenly no one knows him that well. He’s labeled the stereotypical loner.

According to many media reports one night in the summer of 91 JD invited a
young black man back to his apartment for dinner, drinks, and some man on man action.
As the evening progressed JD pulled out a pair of handeuffs, his would be paramour/next
victim objected and JD attempted to overrule his objections by pulling out a huge butcher
knife and chasing him into the bedroom. They fought; loverboy escaped and called the
COps. _

Later that night the cops showed up at JD’s apartment. JD was polite, as was his
way. This wasn’t the first young man that had escaped his clutches or the first time the
police had questioned him. Earlier that year a dazed and confused fourteen-year-old
Asian boy was found wandering the streets naked and bleeding from his butt with JD
giving chase. The police were called, a silver tongued JD worked his magic and
Milwaukee’s finest chalked the whole _th_ing up to some kind of drunken homosexual
lovers spat and returned the boy to him. .

JD wouldn’t be so lucky this t:lme The police insisted upon searchmg his
apartment where they found seven humian skulls, numerous severed hands, penises and
other human remains in the rcﬁ'lgcrator There were hundreds of photographs. Some
bodies were stored in acid filled vats. There was an altar surrounded by candles and
human skulls in the closet. Evidence of cannibalism and necrophilia.

JD was arrested and charged with committing seventeen murders. The evidence
against him was so overwhelming he had no choice but to plead not guilty by reason of
insanity. The jury didn’t buy his story. He was found guilty of fifteen murders and back
to CCI he went.

Upon JD’s amrival at CCI at least forty inmates wrote their unit manager, the
security director and the warden and said that if given the chance they would kill him.
What they hoped to accomplish by this is beyond me, but write they did. When it comes
to violence or threats of violence, CCL like the rest of the Wisconsin Prison System, has
a zero tolerance policy. To show us.they were serious they threw every single one of
those authors in the hole for ninety days, and let it be known there was plenty of room
there for anyone else who wanted to join them

This cut down on the written threats, but not the hard feelings. In order to protect
JD he was put in Protective Custody. Ironically enough inmates in segregation and PC
were housed in the same building. Disciplinary Segregation Two (DS2), where many of
the would be bards got a chance to personally tell JD how they felt about him.

The animosity directed towards JD was never going to subside. The more JD was
threatened the more the determined the :administration became to prove they could do
their job and protect him. They were in charge. Things were going to be run their way. It
was a matter of professional pride, and if JD had to die to prove them wrong then so be it.

It’s my personal opinion that JD was never sure how others were going to respond
to him. This caused him to draw into himself, so if you wanted to talk to him you had to
make the first move. All of which violated my first rule of doing time, don’t speak to

- anyone unless spoken to first. Furthermore, the way I saw it, he could do absolutely
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nothing for me. But now that he had something I wanted I was going to have to at least

“Attention all areas and units,” the metallic voice said over the loudspeaker heard
throughout the entire institution. “It’s now time for the 9:10 p.m. standing count. 9:10
p.m. standmg count.”

I stopped pacing and went and stood by my door and waited for the ofﬁcer to go
by.

“Did he go by yet?” JD asked.

“No talking during count,” Officer Tetzlauf barked.

“Why don’t you come count these nuts,” an anonymous Smurf down the hall
suggested.

“If you have a pair of testicles i in there then you need to spit’em out, cause they
damn sure don’t belong to you,” Tetzlau.f shouted just before he slammed the range door
shut,

Officer Tetzlauf was a classic case _,of nepotism gone wild. In pnson nepotism is
more prevalent then TB and hepatitis combined. So even though he wasn’t qualified to be
an assistant spell checker in an M & M factory here at CCI he was licensed to kill. Not
only were his mom and dad career employees of the DOC, but so were most of his
brothers, sisters, aunts, uncles, and cousins. Tetzlauf was a twenty-two year old, pimply
faced smart aleck who thought that inmates at CCI were incarcerated for his personal
amusement. He liked to play games and when he was in the mood to play you had better
play along or else he would show you that this was serious business. During cell searches
he would move things around in your cell. If you were in the shower and he was feeling
playful he might wait for you to get all lathered up and then turn off the water. Maybe put
dirty underwear in your bedroll. And he knew an amazing amount of your baby momma
jokes that he was more then willing to share with any inmate who crossed his path.

Two minutes later the metallic voice was back. “Attentlon all areas and units, the
9:10 p.m. count is correct. The 9:10 p.m. count is correct.

“QOkay, I’'m back,” JD said lcnockmg on the wall we shared. “Where were we?”

“We wers talking about you killing Adam.”

“I didn’t say I killed him. I said they think 1did.”

“When?”
“When I was living on the beach in Miami.”

“I thought you were from QOhio.”

“Who told you that?”

“No one. I read about it. I followed your case in the press.”

“You know who I am?” .

“Dude, I'm sorry to break it to you, but anyone who hasn’t been in a coma, under
a rock on the moon for the past five ycars knows who you are.’

“You think so?” -

“I know so0.”

“So what do you think?”

“About what?”

“.Me")

“Idon’t.”

“So those lies they wrote about me don’t bother you?”
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“Not really. I have my own issues to deal with. Do you know what I'm here for?”

“I’ve heard some thmgs :

“Then who am I to sit in _]udgment of anyone?”

“Well to answer your questmns 1 grew up in Ohio, but after I got kicked out of
the army .

“What were you kicked out of the army for?”

“Drinking, partying, having a good time. After I returned to the States .

“Returned from where?”

“QOverseas. When [ was in the military 1 was stationed in Germany. When I
returned 1 went to live in Miami where I had the time of my life. The weather was
awesome. I loved the nightlife. I liked it so much I even started to study Spanish. If
you’re going to survive in Florida you have to speak the language. But mostly I loved the
freedom and independence I felt down there far away from my dad and step-mom. I
could actually be myself without worrying about them judging me.”

“If you loved it so much then why did you leave?”

“My Nanna lives in Milwaukee. She’s getting up there in age, so I came up here
to take care of her.”

“I thought your grandma lived in Phllly »

“No. The stud who sent me the TV was from Philly.”

1 knew that. I just needed to switch the conversation back to the TV or else this
babbling psychopath would go on and on about his beloved Nanna.

“Are you going to write him back?” :

“I doubt it,” he said. “I don’t think 1 want to be friends with anyone who wants to

be friends with a man like me.”

“Can I have his address?”

“What are you going to do with 1t _
“Write and ask him to send me a TV ”?
“I can’t do that.”

“Why not?”

“Ht’s disrespectful.”

“So what. You just said you dldn’t want anything to do with him.”

“That doesn’t give me the right to disrespect him.”

“Bullshit.”

“T’H tell you what I will do. I’ll write him and ask if you can have his address. If
- he says yes I'll give it to you. How does sound‘?”

“Like a load of crap.”

“That’s the best I can do.”

“Whatever.”

1 didn’t have much to say after that Besides it was getting late and I needed to get
to bed if I wanted to make it to rec in the moming.

“Listen JD, I've enjoyed staying up and k1ckmg it w1th you, but if I'm going to
make it to rec I have to pull back and get some sleep.”

“What time is rec?”

“9:30.”

“What are you going to do at rec?”
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“I'm not sure. I’m hoping to play basketball, but if there’s not enough players
then I'll lift weights.” : '

“I’ve never understood the point of lifting something heavy up, just to put it back
down.” :
“I do it so I can get bigger, faster, stronger.”

“Do you ever think maybe your time would be better spent leaming to love
yourself the way you are?” JD said. “I for one happen to think that you’re perfect just the
way you are.” -

You see, that’s where shit gets weird. How was I supposed to respond when the
monster from Milwaukee, a madman with a confirmed history of dismembering young
men of color indicates that he’s been sizing me up. I had no idea so I pulled the sheet
over my head, closed my eyes as tight as I could and rocked myself to sleep.
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The four buildings that made up the nine inmate housing units at CCI were placed
in a loosely arranged semi-circle with twenty-foot gaps between each building.

In the center of the semi-circle was a courtyard where there were many sidewalks
that criss-crossed the grounds, several flower beds that were immaculately maintained by
inmate workers, and plenty of lush green grass that was off limits at all times to all
inmates. In front of each unit was a baskétball rim that up to six inmates at a time could
use during their designated dayroom time if there were enough officers available to
supervise,

At the top of the courtyard was a straight line of attached buildings with a wide
walkway covered by an arch. From above I imagine the buildings that made up CCI must
have looked like a shattered letter d laying on its side dead, deader than one of JD’s
victims. Located at the tip of the leg was the administration building,

Each one of the four general population inmate-housing buildings was made up of
two units.

Units one and two were the school units. If you arrived at CCI without a high
school diploma, high school equivalency degree, or GED, the education Nazi’s here were
going to be put your name on the waiting list to attend school. It usually took between
twelve to eighteen months for your name to make it to the top of the list. Once it did you
were going to be enrolled until you graduated It didn’t matter how old you were or how
much time you had, if you didn’t have a diploma, then you were going to get one. What a
so-called super predator serving hundreds of years or multiple life sentences was
supposed to do with a high school diploma is something you’ll need more than a prison
provided diploma to understand. .

Unit three, AKA Disciplinary Segregatlon Two (DSZ) was a segregation unit and
attached to unit one and two.

Units four and five were the vocatlonal school units. If you had a high school
diploma, HSED or GED when you arrived or after you earned one, but not a college or
technical degree then you were going to be put on the waiting list and eventually enrolled
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in a vocational class until you earned a degree in either vocational printing, janitorial
services or weatherization. You may have been sentenced to die in prison, but damn it,
that didn’t mean you were going to die a dummy.

Units six and seven were the Special Management Units (SMU). Inmates housed
in the SMU were informally known as “Smurfs.” If you were crazy, not crazy enough to
be declared legally insane and sent to a mental hospital, but too crazy to survive in
general population then they were going to send you to unit six and then depending on
your degree of mental illness you might get promoted to unit seven until they cured,
killed or properly medicated whatever ailed you and it was safe enough to house you in
general population.

Units eight and nine were the workers units. A prison simply cannot function
without its sweatshops and slave labor, Someone has to mop the floors, mow the grass,
scrub the toilets, prepare the meals, take out the garbage, and sort the dirty drawers.

The gym was the eastern most set of double doors in a long line of doors set up
just like a strip mall. From east to west it was the gym, library, main kitchen, canteen,
laundry, school and then the administration building,

After you stepped through the second set of doors you were in the gym, which
was dominated by the gym floor with a thirty-five foot high ceiling. The main floor was
large enough to hold two full size regulation size basketball courts.

Running along the left hand side of the gym floor was a large utility room. In the
back of this room was the Rec Director’s. office, which had two doors. One that led to the
utility room and another one that led directly to the back of the Hobby Department Next
in line was the Hobby Department, which wasn’t much of a department at all since it only
consisted of one room that was about the size of your average grade school classroom.
And then the Music Department. The Music Department consisted of four 15’ X 15°
soundproof rooms for individual instruments and one 40’ X 40’ room that allowed for
bands to get together and jam. In the southwest corner of the gym bolted to the wall was a
heavy bag and speed bag. _

Running along the right side of the gym floor was a door that led to the inmate
locker room. Next was the officer’s Bubble. The entire fioor of the fifteen feet wide and
forty—foot deep Bubble was elevated four feet higher than the gym floor. This made it
easier for the Bubble officer to look out the windows and superwse rec. Then there was
the game room. The game room was blg enough to hold two ping-pong tables and a
foosball table.

After that was the weight room w1th two universal weight machines and a couple
of stand-alone weight machines. There wasn’t a single free weight in the building. This
was around the time when many of the nations police and sheriff’s departments went
whining to the prisons about how too many convicts were spending all their time eating,
sleeping and lifting weights. Then when the cons became ex-cons they were too strong
for real members of law enforcement to dcal with. When prison officials ignored the cops
complaints the police went public. The only things those in the business of housing
ferocious felons fear are budget cuts and bad publicity.

The Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP) was one of the first systems to ban free
weights, Once again Wisconsin played follow the leader. The Wisconsin DOC removed
- every ounce of free weights from all of their correctional institutions and replaced them
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with machines. Which begs the questioni, which weighs more, a hundred pounds of free
weights or a hundred pounds of machine weights?

Beyond the weight room was an unmarked door. Behind this door was the staff
locker room with it’s own lockers, toilets, sinks and shower area.

If I had only one word to describe the gym, the entire prison for that matter, it
would have to be windows. They were everywhere. Large five by five foot, heavy duty
shatter resistant Plexiglas windows that:were side by side and covered the top half of
most of the inside walls. Front windows, back windows, side windows. Windows,
windows, windows everywhere. 3

The windows in the gym not only allowed the officer sitting at his desk in the
Bubble to look directly ahead and supervise the gym floor, he could also look forty-five
degrees to his left and see into the utility room and past that room into the Rec Director’s
office and past that into the Hobby Department. Or he could look ninety degrees over his
right shoulder and see into the game room, straight through the game room into the
weight room from his perch. If he stepped or lets be honest here, if he wheeled himself
deeper into the recesses of the Bubble he could look down and to his left and see into the
inmate locker room and shower area.

During unit rec periods there was always at least one officer in thc Bubble and
two officers on the floor supervising. Because of the windows any officer standing in any
commer of the gym could see most everythmg That is, if they were paying attention.

The moming afier staying up most of the night getting to know my neighbor 1
went to rec, got in a fight and went to the hole.

I love to play basketball and played every chance I got. The problem was we were
Smurfs and one of the big negatives of being a Smurf was that it was difficult getting ten
of us rounded up to play a full court game of basketball. As it tums out there were
enough Smurfs to play a full court game of B-ball, even if a few of the ballers were so
stoned on their moming meds they had no idea where they were or what they were doing.

The two best players were a couple of cons named Shotgun Sean and Shorty. The
reason they were the best was because they weren’t Smurfs. They were general
population inmates who happened to work in the SMU as unit workers.

They called Sean, “Shotgun Sean” because when he played basketball he loved to
shoot. Shotgun Sean was a, twenty-seven year old African-American convicted murderer
who never killed anyone. When Sean was five his moms moved him and his little sister
out of the Cabrini Greens housing pmjects in the “city” and when I say “city”’ I mean
Chicago, to Wisconsin to get away frbm the violence and collect the better weifare
benefits offered here. When Sean was sixteen he and a group of homies were sitting on
the front porch of the two story duplex he lived in playing dominoes, talking trash,
smoking dope and whistling at the ladles who happened to wander on past, when a pizza
delivery man came to deliver a pizza to hls upstairs neighbor.

One of the homeboys asked for a slice. Another homey said they had money. A
third homcy with deep pockets and a wicked case of the munchies offered double the
pizza’s price. When his generous offer was rudely rebuffed the three amjgos made like
Humphrey and tried to Bogart it. The pizza man wasn’t no punk. There was some
pushing and shoving. Lots of cursing, a p;stol was pulled and quicker than an Italian trick
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baby could cry, “Mama Mia!” the pizza man was on his way to that great big pizzeria in
the sky.

Since it happened in front of Sean’s mom’s house Sean was the first and only
person arrested. The D.A. offered Sean a deal. Tell him who his co-horts were and agree
to testify against them for twenty years. Sean was young, hardheaded and most
unportantly there was no way his young mind could wrap itself around the idea of doing
that much time. His teen logic convinced him that if the state was offering that kind of
deal it was because their case was weak. Plus, he wasn’t no snitch. Sean went to trial and
was found guilty of conspiracy to commit first-degree murder. Which for sentencing
purposes carried the same amount of time as if he actually pulled the trigger. Shotgun
Sean was sentenced to life in prison with no parole.

Now Sean gave every penny he earned to Big Brian, the llbrary s law clerk and
self proclalmed legal genius to handle his appeal. Sean was hoping to win his appeal and
get back in court where he would gladly accept the state’s original deal, and
enthusiastically testify against his friends with the short memories. Until then Sean kept
busy playing basketball and working as the unit seven lead server.

Shorty was a thirty-one year old African-American convicted drug dealer. He sold
crack until he was arrested and sent to prison. Shorty did his time, was paroled and went
right back to slinging ‘caine. He was arrested and his parole was revoked. Unlike
Shotgun Sean, Shorty took the best plea bargain offered and did his time. He got out, he
was rearrested, came back and here he was, the unit six laundry worker. As far as Shorty
was concerned the second he got out he was going right back to business because that’s
what he was, a drug dealer.

Shorty was only 5°9”, but he worked harder and thus was a better player than
Shotgun Sean. Shorty was actually a couple inches taller than me so I always thought it
was weird calling him Shorty, but that’s what he went by, so that’s what I called him.

Shotgun Sean and Shorty weren’t nearly as good as they thought they were, but in
life everything is relative. Claiming to be the best baller in the SMU was a lot like being
the best singer in a school for the deaf. Ain’t nobody trying to hear that noise. Being the
best available meant that they got to be the divas. They stepped on the court when they
were good and ready, complained and, cried all the time about everything and were
always the first two picked. Going one and two in the inmate draft also meant they were
always on separate teams. Had to compete against each other. They didn’t like that, so on
this particular Sunday moming they said, they were going to play together or not at all.

By sheer luck, as a late round draft pick I was picked to play on their team. And
with a little help from my friends I was having a career day. We won every game easily
and after every shot I made I was sure to sn'ule and remind the other team how much they
sucked.

One of my pupils that mommg was a Caucasian con named Harold “Demon”
Pendleton. Demon was a fifty-five year old basketball loving, father of three who got his
oldest daughter pregnant. Of course when confronted by the cops he denied it. He swore
on a stack of bibles that he would never do such a thing. He denied it till the day his
daughter/granddaughter was born and DNA showed otherwise. Then it was, “The devil
made me do it.”

Demon loved to play basketball even more than I did. Only he couldn’t move all
that fast and he seriously hated to lose Because he lived in cell number two over on
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upper A-range he was usually one of the first players let out for rec since the unit Bubble
officer started opening cells at the top of his chart. Being the first person on the floor
meant he got the first pick. Demon’s best moves to insure he won more games than he
lost was to pick Shorty and remind whoever was guarding him know that, “I can ﬁght ?
So they had better be careful and not defend him too weil.

But not this morning.

We were wmmng every game aasﬂy and unknown to me at the time was the
unwritten rule of prison ball that says when you are slaughtering your opponent you don’t
get to stop play by calling foul no matter how flagrant the foul was. I went up for a shot
and was hacked in the act. After picking myself up off the floor I shouted, “foul.”

“That wasn’t no fucking foul,” Demon hissed as if I was the one who had
deflowered his daughter.

“How would you know? You weren’t even in the play,” I stated rather reasonably

“You’re not getting the next one.”

“Oh yes I am. You're going to rcspect every call I make.”

“You think you’re pretty tough don’t you?” he howled.

“Tough enough.”

“If you’re so tough why did you shoot that lady?”

Here we go. There are no secrets in prison. Apparently he knew what I was
locked up for. I wasn’t surprised. While preparing for trial my lawyer had told me that I
had the most notorious criminal case in' Madison’s history. He also let me know that 1
was a mistake and should have never been born. Which is a pretty harsh thing to hear, but
he said it in the nicest way possible. Early in my bit it was rare for me to run across
someone who didn’t know what I was in.for. It was obvious Demon was saving that little

- nugget for just the right moment.

I 1mmed1ately recogmzed what Demon was trying to do. He was trying to hurt my
feelings. Most men in prison are, by definition, anti-social sociopaths, and under normal
circumstances. trying to hurt a sociopath's feelings is an even bigger waste of time than
trying to rehabilitate them. But the truth is I was sensitive about what I had done to her.
The lady I shot in the head, killing her instantly, was a twenty-nine year old housewife,
part-time volunteer and mother of three young children aged seven, four, and sixteen
months. Yeah I killed her and that was wrong Really wrong.

I didn’t kill her because she was a female and I think I should get some credit for
that. Which might seem kind of strange, unless you lived in a place full of misogynistic
men who had killed women simply because they were women and at this point I need to
generate all the good will I can get. I don’t have any misguided rage directed towards
women. At least I don’t think I do. I killed her for no other reason than because she was
there. -
If there’s anything about my case that really bothers me, besides being caught,
and held accountable for my actions, it’s her death. From a strictly intellectual
perspective I can understand that a child ﬁwds their mother. The problem is, I’ve never
lost a seconds sleep over her death. l’IVe lost a lot of sleep, and shed many a tear
regarding me and my future, but not a ¢ne for her. And that means there is something
seriously wrong with me. And that hurts But I’ll be dammed if I let some over the hill
incestuous pedophile know it. -
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“That’s right. I shot that whore in. the head,” I shouted. “I got nothing to hide. Too
bad you can’t say t the same.”

“Sure I can.’

Demon didn’t know that 1 knew what he was convicted of. But I did. The same

~ rumormongers who gossiped about me. to hlm were only to eager to gossip about him to
me.
Why did you rape your daughter . I asked.

“Tdidn’t.”

“That’s not what the paternity test sald baby raper.”

“You better watch your mouth.”

“Or what?”

“I’ll rape you.”

“First you have to catch me, and I ain’t no twelve year old girl,” I said and started
doing my best impression of the Ali shuffle. “Tell me this. When your inbred misfit kid
gets old enough to talk is she supposed to call you pa or grandpa?”

“Fuck you, you bitch ass faggot,” Demon said truculently.

Now in prison, and when I say. prison I’'m talking about the Wisconsin Prison
System, specifically CCIL, so for all you out of state cons and/or ex-cons who are reading
this and thinking that’s not how it goes, I'm telling you that based on years of
incarceration it’s been my experience that this is exactly how it goes in this state. Here in
Wisconsin if one of your peers calls you a bitch ass faggot, or anything else along those
lines you can respond in one of three ways;.

1- You can accept his challenge in which case you fight immediately.

2- You can see his challenge and raise him a challenge. If you can’t think of
anything new, better or morg original to say then stick to the tried and true,
your momma. Simply repeat whatever it was he said. In this case “Your
momma is a bitch ass faggot.” The ball is now in his court. He will either
accept your challenge and start swinging, or see your bid and raise the ante. In
which case you can go back and forth until one of you tires and moves on or
starts swinging.

3- Ignore him. A challenge has been issued. If you choose not to accept the
challenge well then he has c}early won, he must be right and everybody gets
on with their life.

I chose option number three for any number of reasons. He was a silly old man. I
was having a hard time taking him serious and I was there to play ball, not fight or go to
the hole. '

The problem with choosmg optlon #3 was that it left no room for incidents,
accidents, mistakes, or rmsunc:lers;tandmgs1 Not more then five minutes later I went up for
a shot, Demon fouled me, rather aggresswely I felt, and I wound up on the floor.

In prison if you think someone ls dcllberately trying to hurt you then you have
three options. _

1- Punch him in the mouth.

2- Punch him in the eye, or

3- Punch him in the throat.
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C’mon, the Wisconsin Prison System might arguably be the softest system in the
continental United States and Canada, but if ever an individual puts his hands on you in a
violent manner then you have to respond with violence.

I jumped up and threw a wild overhand left that caught him flush on the cheek. It
didn’t even faze him. Demon swung back. We grabbed each other and got to rolling
around on the floor, grunting and groaning for what seemed like the longest thirty
seconds of my life until the floor officers sauntered on over, grabbed us by the ankles and
pulled us apart. Within seconds the handcuffs were on and we were out the door before
other inmates in the area could rally the troops and decide if they wanted to get involved
or not.

As the aggressor I did not pass go, and I certainly did not collect $200. I was sent
straight to Disciplinary Segregation One. CCI’s version of jail.
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Disciplinary Segregation One (DS1) is just a fancy way of saying “the hole,” “the

,’ “Seg,” “Segregation” “Isolation” and for those who are really up to date on their

prlson vemacular, “the grip.” Why do they call it that? Because they’ve got you by the
short hairs.

When I got to the grip I was led to a strip cage where I was strip searched and
given a complete set of seg clothes to change in to. Fresh socks, underwear, orange T-
shirt, neon orange pocketless clastic pants and flip-flops. After I was dressed the
handcuffs were slapped back on, the cage door was unlocked and I was escorted to a cell
where I was locked in and left to wonder what just happened.

In every seg cell there was a bed, toilet/sink combo, desk and not much else. The
light switch was outside the cell. There was no swivel seat to be tom from the desk and
there were no electrical outlets for us to stick our fingers or tongues in. You scoff, but it’s
true. If there were live outlets in the cell some seg rats would relieve some of the endless
boredom by forcing body parts into these outlets more often then you think. If you beat a
man down long cnough pretty soon he’s going to catch on and start beating himself.
Which not only ruins the point, it takes a lot of the fun out of it. Now you have to go in
and make him stop.

I had to sit there twiddling my thumbs for almost thirty-six hours before they
brought me my “property.” By property ] mean my pens, pencils, writing paper, stamps,
personal books and magazines from my unit seven cell. I had to wait another forty-eight
hours for the library to send me something to read.

“Thirteen to twenty-nine.” I could walk into any segregation building in the
country, holler those numbers, and every seg rat therein would know what I’'m talking
about. I'm talking about playing chess. I'm talking about two men locked away in
different cells within shouting distance battling each other in the greatest game of
simulated war ever created. :
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Neither chessboards nor chess pieces were permitted in DS1. Rules have never
prevented men, countries or seg rats from going to war with their neighbors. All a
felonious future Bobby Fischer had to do was wait for the supply cart to come around,
which it did every aftemoon and ask the officer for three things; A visitors request form
because the backside of this form was completely blank. A health-o-gram because it was
blue, and a money transmittal form because it was pink. On the blank side of the visitors
request form you drew a chessboard. Every chessboard has sixty-four squares. Starting in
the lower left hand comer on white’s side you numbered the first square 1. Square
number 1 is always a dark square. The squares directly to it’s right and directly above it
are light squares. Along the first row the squares were numbered 1 to 8. The second row
was numbered 9 to 16 with 9 being directly above 1. Third row 17-24, and so on until
every square was numbered 1 to 64. You used the colored paper to make the pieces. Tear
off 16 blue pieces of paper smaller then the squares on your chessboard and make 8
pawns simply by marking them with a P. 2 R’s for the rooks. 2 KN’s for the knights, a Q
and a K. Do the same with the pink paper. Set up your board while your opponent does
the same in his cell and it was game on.

I like chess more than I like cribbage, but not as much as I like basketball. I really
like to play chess in the hole because there were no time restrictions and I had nothing
better to do. Mississippi, the man two. cells down from me and I had been playing
everyday for hour after hour since the day I arrived in DS1. I was grateful to have him on
the tier and looked forward to whiling away my seg time playing him for stamps.

I spent the next fifteen days on “Temporary” Lock-Up. (TLU) I use quotation
marks because it wasn’t very temporary. TLU is that dead time between the time of the
incident and the time you go on your due process hearing. By the time they came to get
me for my hearing I was convinced that they had forgotten me and quite frankly was
expecting some sort of an apology .

All hearings for major conduct reports are held in DS1.

“Ready?” Officer Ganove asked opening the food slot in the cell door. Ganove
was a tall, skinny, hatchet faced man with hairy knuckles who sweated a lot.

“As ready as I'm ever going to be,” I said sticking my hands out the slot to be
handcuffed.

“Ganove,” Darren “Fats” Campbell the morbidly car thief in the cell to my left
shouted.

‘“What!”” Ganove said.

“Man, don’t what me,” Fats sald “You can what your wife. You can what your
kids. You can even what your dog, but don’t fuckin’ what me.”

“What do you want?”” Ganove sa1d

“I need to shave.”

“In a minute.” :

“If you keep talking to me hke that I'm going to make you suit up,” Fats
threatened.

“Open 22,” Ganove barked into His radio after slapping the cuffs on me.

After stepping out of my cell Ganove perfunctorily pat searched me. When he was
finished he grabbed my right elbow and escorted me downstairs to a room not much
larger then a church confessional. The only things in the due process holding cell were a
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backless stainless steel stool that was bolted to the floor, a three foot high, eighteen inch
wide concrete slab that ran the length of the room and a two-way mirror that took up the
whole top half of the front wall. After helping me have a seat Ganove used a mini-
bullstrap, (A nine inch long, two inch wide leather strap with a handcuff attached to each
end) to secure me to a ring welded to the center of the slab.

“Good luck,” Ganove said before he left slamming the heavy steel door behind

I sat there staring into the mirror while I waited for my disciplinary hearing to
begin. Suddenly the mirror went clear. On the other side was a much larger and nicer
room. Sitting behind a large desk that dominated the room was Captain Bauchlatscher.
Bauchlatscher was an old white man wearing a heavily starched button down white shirt
with two gold bars on each collar indicating his rank. Seated to his right was Officer
Niemals, a sturdy gray haired matron who looked a lot like Elvis in his later years,
without the sideburns. 1 assumed she was there for record keeping, but since we were
never formally introduced I’m not sure what her official function was. Seated to
Bauchlatscher’s left was Ms. Andry, a gorgeous blond with an ass so big she must have
been eligible for some sort of disability. She was my staff advocate. There to assist me in
my defense. Five days ago she stood outside my cell door and explained my rights and
asked if I wanted to call any witnesses. And then I never saw her again. Many seg rats
would catch a conduct report just so her ass would visit them.

“Name?” Bauchlatscher asked while simultaneously rifling through a stack of
paper situated on the comer of his desk.

“Raconteur.” '

“Number?” .

“246011.” R

“Here we are,” he said picking up the conduct report. He cleared his throat and
began reading. “On the above date and time while supervising units six and seven
recreation I, Officer Lockvogel witnessed inmate Raconteur #246011 and inmate
Pendleton #655321 engaged in a heated discussion on the basketball court when
Raconteur punched Pendleton. Pendleton swung back and both inmates continued
exchanging punches until Officer Rettung and I forcibly separated them,” Bauchlatscher
read. “You’ve been charged with being in violation of DOC 303.17 Fighting, 303.64
Disruptive Conduct and 303.55 Policies and Procedures. Where you given a copy of the
conduct report?” .

“Yes sir,” I said. _

“Do you understand the charges against you?”

“Yes sir.”

“Do you: undcrstand your nghts‘?”

“Yes sir.” :

“How do you plead‘?"

I got in a fight in the middle of the gym in front of at least three hacks. If
Thurgood Marshall and Sandra Day O’Connor had a booty call and created an interracial
love child and that love child graduated first in his class from Harvard law school and
agreed to represent me pro-bono there was still no way I was going to beat these charges.
My best bet at leniency was to throw myself at the mercy of the court and so I sat up
straight, cleared my throat and said, “Guiity.”
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“Come again.”

“Guilty.”

“Glad to hear it. I like it when they’re this easy,” Bauchlatscher said looking in
my advocate’s direction. “Care to add anything?”

“Not much to add,” Ms. Andry said shrugging her shoulders. “The conduct report
speaks for itself. This is his first one. His last three monthly work evaluations were
satisfactory and none of the officers on the unit have any complaints.’

“Did you catch all that?” Bauchlatscher asked looking in my direction.

“Yes sir.” -

“Care to add anything?”

*“No sir.” '

“Good,” Bauchlatscher said and fhpped a switch causing the mirror to go dark.
Five minutes later he was back. “Okay. Based on the information contained in the
conduct report, your advocates statement and the fact you admitted committing the
offense, I’m going to find you guilty of fighting, disruptive conduct and violating policies
and procedures. As a disposition I'm sentencing you to 120 days program segregation.”

*“120 days for a first offense?”

“If you disagree then feel free to appeal my decision to the warden,”
Bauchlatscher said and flipped the switch.

Once again I was alone looking at the man in the mirror.

“13 to 29,” I shouted as soon as I got back to my cell.

“No, no, no,” Samuel “Mississippi” Martin said. “You were white last time. It’s
my turn.” Mississippi was a 32-year-old deadbeat dad from Mississippi who happened to
be hitchhiking to Canada to avoid child support payments when he ran out of money so
he tried to rob a bowling alley with a butter knife. He got seven years for that. He was in
seg for sleeping through too many AM standing counts. In segregation there are no
standing counts.

“Fine,” I said flipping my board. around sa that the black pieces were closer to me.

“Where are we at?”

“You're down ten flags.”

“Your move man.”

“13 to 29.”

13 to 29 is such a standard opening that even seg rats that don’t know how to play
chess recognize it. I moved his white lcmg s pawn on square 13 two squares forward to
29 and said, “53 to 37, while moving my black king’s pawn on 53 to 37.

“7 to 22,” Mississippi said. Tha_ti’s_ his king’s knight on 7 to 22 threatening my
pawn on 37. “How’d your hearing go?”’

“52 to 44,” | said moving my queen’s pawn one square forward to 44 to protect
my pawn on 37. “Not good. Guilty on all charges.”

“6 to 27, Mississippi said. That s his white bishop on 6 to 27. “And the
damage?” '

“56 to 48,” I said. That’s my kmg s took’s pawn going from 56 to 48. I did this to
prevent him from moving his knight on 22 to 39 and working in combination with his
white bishop to check me at 54. “One-twenty.”
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“2 to 19,” he said. That’s his other '_I_Imight on 2 getting into the action, “That ain’t
bad.” -
“59 10.31,” I said moving my white bishop to 31 and pinning his knight on 22.
“Whatever happened to this legendary *3 and out’ for first time offenders?”

“They don’t do that anymore,” Mr. Moss, the resident know-it-all shouted. Mr.
Moss was an elderly black man who for shits and giggles liked to smoke crack and choke
hookers. One day he went too far and choked a crack whore to death. He got six years for
that. Eighteen months ago Mr. Moss wanted to call a female acquaintance to whom he’d
recently been introduced to by his cellie. The catch 22 was she wasn’t on his approved
visitors list so the rules prohibited him from calling her. She wasn’t on his visiting list
because he wasn’t allowed to call and tell her what she needed to do to get on his visiting
list. Instead he filled out a slip to call his mother. After Officer Hauser punched in the
number and headed back to her desk Mr. Moss hung up the phone and started furtively
punching in a new number. He wasn’t furtive enough. Hauser ordered him to hang up the
phone and return to his cell. Mr. Moss ignored her. Hauser returned, reached over his
shoulder and tried to end the call. Mr. Moss slapped her hand away. She tried again. Mr.
Moss slapped her hand away again and :said, “Bitch, you’d better go on.” Now Hauser
was determined to end that call. Mr. Moss choked her unconscious and sat back down to
finish his call. Unfortunately for him thgparty on the other end wasn’t there to accept his
collect call. He's been in seg ever since.*“Back in the day your first fight was ‘3 and out’
simply because they didn’t have bed space. You got in a fight, you went to the hole for
three days and you got out. It wasn’t nq blg deal, But now they have this building and
need to keep it full. The way they do- that is by writing bogus tickets and handing out
boo-coo time.”

“That just goes to show you that these white devils aren’t playing around,”
Maurice “Cool Whip” Patterson, the seg rat in the cell between Mississippi and I
shouted. Cool Whip was a 22-year-old black cat who like the cowardly lion, could really
roar, but he didn’t have any heart. While living on unit nine and making a buck an hour
stamping license plates Cool Whip was doubled up with a black lifer named Mudbone
who while never actually touching him, strongly suggested that anything was possible.
Cool Whip told him, “I have AIDS.” To which Mudbone said, “That’s okay, so do 1.”
That same evening Cool Whip went to the unit sergeant and asked to be undoubled.
“Why?” Sarge asked. “No particular reason,” Cool Whip answered. Sarge told him to
either lock-in or get locked up. No sergcant will ever undouble an inmate without a
sufficient reason. If he does the cons wi]] start playing musical cellies. Unwilling to risk
his anal integrity Cool Whip choose otbtton #2 and went to the hole before Mudbone
decided to visit his hole.

Every ¢ell in DS1 is single occuppncy Cool Whip liked it there so much that the
morning he was told to pack up, he was going back to GP, he spit on Ganove. Now every
time he’s supposed to get out Cool Whip starts spitting.

“22 gaffles your pawn on 37,” Mississippi said enthusiastically. “Why does it
have to be a white-black thing? Why can ’t it be a right vs. wrong or a cons vs. cops
thing?” _

“Why is it when that two or more.'brothers try to have an intellectual conversation
a cracker comes along and tries to break it up?” Cool Whip asked.

“That’s an oxymoron,” Mississippi said.
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“What’s an oxymoron?”

“Nigger intellect.”

“Fuck you white boy,” Cool Wh.lp shouted.

“No, fuck you, boy,” Mississippi shot right back. “If what you say is true then
why didn’t they max him out? Everyone knows that fighting carries a one-eighty.”

“They can’t,” Mr. Moss answered. “With summer coming up they need the room.
Every day before they start the hearings the hearing officer goes to the Bubble and finds
out how much bed space they have. Then based on that number he decides how many
people he’s going to lock-up, and for how long.”

“Mississippi,” I shouted. “Did you catch my last move?”

“No. What was it?” :

“59 to 31.”

“Okay.”

“And then you moved 22 t0 37" I sald “Now what’s to stop me from taking your
queen on 4?7” _

“Wait a minute.” :

“Un-un. We play touch move when there’s money on the line.”

“What’s your move?”

“My bishop on 31 pimp slaps you.r whorc on four.”

*27 to 54, check.”

“Which just goes to show you tha,t these pcckcrwoods are doing this on purpose,”
Cool Whip said. “If they were to build 100 cells, they’re going to fill 95 of them and 90
of those are going to be filled with niggas. That’s why I hate honkies.”

“If you so-called nigger intellectuals have all the answers then what are you doing
locked up?” Mississippi wondered aloud.;

“If you know what’s good for ‘you,” Cool Wh]p shouted. “You won’t use that
word again.” ,

“It’s okay for me to say that because there are blacks in my family tree.”

“Yeah, nght ?

“I’m serious.” o

“Who?” o

“I don’t know their names,’ Mlsa;ssmpx said. “But if you were to go down to my
plantat:lon and look in the back yard you would see plenty of niggers hanging from the
trees.”

As a Halfrican-American who had spent more than half my life with my lighter
half, T wasn’t half surprised by Mlssxsmppl s choice of words. It’s always been my
opinion that there are two kinds of whltq inmates in the Wisconsin prison system; those
that hate black inmates and those that say they don’t.

“All you cell soldiers talk all that tough shit behind doors,” Cool Whip shouted.
“But we both know you’ll never say it to my face.”

“You got me fucked up with one of these Wisconsin ass white boys,” Mississippi
said. “Where I come from we know how to keep our niggers in line.”

“That’s what your mouth says.”
“Of course that’s what my mou_th says, ‘cause unlike you, I don’t talk out of my
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ass.
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“Keep ta]kmg that shit and the ﬁrSt chance I get ’m going to put something in
your ass.’ _,
“Here we go with the fag talk.” _-T

“Who said anything gay? I was talking about my foot,” Cool Whip said. “Oh,
wait, I get it. You made a Freudian shp Subconscxously you dream about big black nigga
dick.

“I’m not going to stand here and argue with an idiot,” Mississippi said. “If we
ever meet up in general population we can finish this conversation.”

“If I ever see you in population I'm going to spit in your mouth.”

“Good. Until then shut your fried chicken and watermelon eating hole,”
Mississippi shouted. “Liar, you need to get out of check.”

“Hell no! You ain’t checking nobody. From now on, as long as I'm on the tier
ain’t no card carrying KKK members playing no reindeer games,” Cool Whip shouted
and started kicking his door making further conversation practically impossible.

I looked and I looked and I looked some more. The secret to being a good chess
player is when you see a good move, look for a better one. Sometimes in chess, just like
in life, there are no good moves. My only move was my king to 53 and then he was going
to move his other knight to 36. Checkmate.

“Liar,” Mississippi shouted. “It’s your move man.”

“You stupid cracker,” Cool Whip shouted. “He’s not going to play chess with
you.” .

“Why not?”
“He’s black you dumbass.”  °
“No he’s not. He’s only half black, which means he ain’t alt bad.”
“Say Mississippi,” I shouted as | began tearing up my board and pieces before
flushing them down the toilet. “Do me a favor and don’t call down here anymore.”

“Who held your hearing?” Mr. Moss asked.

“Bauchlatscher,” I said. :

“It wasn’t Tits-off?” Cool Whip a.pked

“Captain Tetzlauf isn’t here anymiore,” Mr. Moss said.

“Her kid is,” I said. “He’s the ‘second shift CO II in the SMU who’s always
talking about people’s momma.” -

“Which one?”

“I only have one momma.”

“No, which one of her kids worksun the Smurf unit?”

“I don’t know. How many does shc have?”

“Alot.”

“How many of them work here?”

“Six, seven, maybe more,” Cool Whlp said pausing from his banging. “The cunt
shoots them ot like a horny Catholic bunny hopped up on fertility drugs. Then when
they grow up they all come and work here sucking at the government titty because they
sucked her titties so hard they broke.. She had to take a medical leave to have a
vasectomy.”

“You mean masbectomy you dumb nigger,” Mississippi said. “That was six
months ago. She 8 been back since then
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“That was for one titty, you fag,” Cool Whip shouted. “The cancer spread so they
had to go in and chop off the other one.”:

“If that’s true then you got lucky Liar,” Mississippi shouted and started banging.
“When it came to handing out seg time that convict hating whore didn’t fuck around.
Everyone who had her for a hearing officer was found guilty and maxed out.”

“Did you get straight time or half time?” Mr. Moss asked.

“Huh?” I said. I had no idea what he was talking about.

“Did Bauchlatscher tell you, you were doing straight time or half time?”

“Neither.”

“Then you’re doing half time.”

“What?”

“I said, you’re doing half time. If they re going to make you do straight time they
have to tell you that at your hearlng Behave yourself, don’t catch anymore tickets and
you’ll be out of here in sixty days.” :

“Man! I can’t hear you Mr. MOSS I shouted. “I’'m going to pull back and start
working on my appeal.”

In accordance with DOC 303.76 (7) any inmate unhappy with the verdict
rendered at a disciplinary hearing has the right to appeal that decision to the warden
within ten days of being found guilty. I was more than unhappy. I was downright
distraught. That same day I wrote the warden a three-page letter explaining why I didn’t
deserve to be in seg. 1 ended my appeal by saying, “If anyone could use a break right
about now, it would be me.’

The warden at that time was a nilan named Schnapdrossel. If ever there was any
such thing as an “old school” warden it would have to have been him. Schnapdrossel was
a hard drinking, big beefy bloke with blood shot eyes and a big bulbous nose. Seriously,
the man smelled like a distillery. I bet if one of his sycophants were to pucker up real
good and kiss his hairy ass they would get shitty drunk. The rumor running rampant
throughout the prison was that back in the day when Schnapdrossel was a lowly
brownshirt at VCI that if you wanted to try him all you had to do was let it be known, and
he would meet you in the back of the cell hall where you could work out your
differences. Then during the riot of 73 he was taken hostage and handled real rough. But
he held his mud and continued to work his way up the ranks. His promotion to warden
was payback for being a good company man.

Apparently part of the psychology of running a prison/mental hospital/all male
old folks home was to have an “open door” policy, to lead by example and create a visual
deterrence by being available to both sta’ff and inmates. Part of Warden Schnapdrossel’s
being available was for him to make dmly rounds covering the whole institution.

At least once a day Schnapdrossel would stop by the gym to talk with his staff.
On one of those mornings I was washing the windows in the gym vestibule when he
stumbled in and said, “Working hard or hardly working?”

“Workmg hard at hardly working, boss,” I answered.

“Well then carry on,” he said and reached out and patted me on the shoulder hard
enough to make me stumble.

So yeah we had a history and whcn he heard about how I was bemg treated I was
certain that he would remedy the sn:uatlon
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As it turns out when Demon went on his hearing he was found guilty and received
a disposition of ninety days program segregation. I'm pretty sure that and my pleading
was the reason why when Schnapdrossel answered my appeal he reduced my seg time to
ninety days. _

There are two kinds of disciplinary segregation sentences. “Straight time” and
“Half time.” Straight time means no matter what you do or how you behave in seg you
still have to do every day of your disposition. Straight time is usually reserved for serious
offenses like battery on an officer, sexual assault or weapons offenses. Half time means
that if you behave yourself, do what you’re told and don’t catch any more tickets while
you’re there you only have to do half the time, the prison version of time off for good
behavior. Half time is usually meted out in routine cases like fighting, drug use or
disobeying orders. I was given half time. -

And then there is the “Step program” which consisted of three steps. On step one
you stay in DS1 for the first third of your time, where the only things you have to keep
you company is books, magazines, your thoughts, and your neighbors. If you behave
yourself you’ll be promoted to step two for the second third of your time and transferred
to DS2, In DS2 you can smoke, order canteen and it’s a lot quieter because if you didn’t
make like a silent little howler monkey they can atways demote you back to DS1.

Since I was a Smurf when I was promoted to step two instead of going to DS2 I
was sent back to the SMU, but still on a seg status and lockéd in my cell twenty-four
hours a day. If you behave yourself on step two you’ll be promoted to step three for the
final third of your seg time. On step three you will be allowed to have one of your
electronics, either your TV or radio. Convicts choice.

I'm not even going to try and front. I hated segregation. Don’t get me wrong, I
seriously dislike prison, but if you’re young, undersized, have a surly disposition and
deserve every day you got, then CCI wasn’t such a bad place to do time. It was new, it
was clean, and most of the meals were edible. And as more than one convict has said
more then once, “The hole is just another part of prison.” Which is true, and yet I hated
the hole. And as I sit here and think about it, I think the reason why is hope. Having been
sentenced to more time then I can possibly do in two life times means I have no
reasonable hope of ever getting released. But released from seg, that was going to happen
sooner or later. With hope comes fear, fear of losing what little T had. I still don’t know
why the cage bird sings, and probably never will.
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At the beginning of July I was finally released from seg status afier doing a total
of fifty-nine days. It had been almost two months since I’d played basketball. I was
anxious to get on the court, but more importantly I wanted to talk to Rec Director
Schwule and see about getting my job back.

The first time 1 went to afternoon unit rec after getting out of the hole 1 went
looking for Schwule. From the gym floor I was able to look straight through the utility
room to his office where I saw him sitting at his desk talking on the phone. Schwule was
a six foot-two inch, fifty-five year old glasses wearing cross-country runner and life long
state employee. Sitting there with his six-dollar bow! cut and wearing a light brown
velour track suit he looked like a lesbian gym teacher.

Prior to CCI opening Schwule was the rec leader, not director, at St. Clouds until
it closed. And like a lot of dime store psychologlsts he had a lot of opinions about what
was wrong with the mentally ill/crimindlly insane and what was needed to cure them.
Opinions that he was more than willing to share with anyone and everyone who was
willing to listen. Unfortunately for him, as a college dropout, he didn’t have the requisite
education or degrees necessary to make any of his opinions carry any weight in a hospital
setting.

This made him a perfect prison e_mployee. In the Wisconsin prison system social
workers aren’t required to have a degree or specialized training. Position comes open,
every employee interested signs up, and the one with the most seniority gets the job.
Those were the people Schwule ran his ideas by.

Schwule believed that idle harids were the devils play things. What Smurfs
needed to become cured was physical activity, whether it be work or exercise, and as a
- dedicated employee it was his responsibility to provide it. His ideas were going to be
implemented and if they didn’t work, well then obviously his pseudo patients were
malingering. If a Smurf wanted to stay in Schwule’s good graces all they had to do was
one of three things, clean windows, jog, or hide from him.
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The second I saw Schwule hang up the phone I raced through the utility room and
knocked on his door.

“Well, well, well, if it isn’t CCI’s very own version of Sugar Ray,” Schwule said
taking off his glasses and rubbing the bridge of his nose. “Come on in champ.”

“What’s up?” I said stepping into his office and taking a seat.

Schwule’s office was tiny. There was barely enough room for a desk, a couple of
chairs, a coat rack, humidor and a fern in the corner. That’s probably why he spent so
little time in there. Since the top halfiof three of the four walls were windows there
wasn’t any space to hang pictures on them. On the back wall was a U.S. flag, a picture of
Brett Farve that had been torn out of the sports page of the Wisconsin State Journal, and
last seasons Green Bay Packers schedule. '

“How are you doing?”” he asked. -

“Good, great, excellent,” I answered. “Now that I'm out of the hole I've never felt
better.” l : .

“The sixty-four dollar question is; are you going to stay out?”

“I'm going to try.”

“How can I help?” .

“I need to make some money.” -

“Don’t we all.”

“I was hoping you would hire me back »

“How can I be sure that if I re-hn'e you, you’re not going to beat up the next guy
who blocks your shot?”

“I admit it. I lost my cool for a second there.”

“It seems to me you have a history of losing your cool.”

“Live and leamn. I've leamed my lesson and that’s never going to happen again.”

“I’'m happy to hear that,” he sald puttmg his glasses back on. “Where are they
housing you?”

“I’m back in the SMU.

“Six or seven?”

“Seven.

“And you re not planning on retlmu.ng to DS1 anytime soon?”

“Never.”

“Let me think about it and Il get back to you.”

This is exactly the type of person I'm talking about when I say I hate soulless
midlevel bureaucrats who enjoy abusing what little power they have. Schwule was going
to hire me and he knew he was and I knew he was. I don’t think he could not hire me.
What I didn’t understand was why he vyas being such a dick about it. Why couldn’t he
come right out and say it? I had hoped that if I skipped the middle man and went straight
to the top he could get the ball rolling and I could be on the payroll that much sooner. If I
hadn’t been so anxious and had thought: ﬁungs through I would have talked to Schludern

first. But then I suppose that if [ looked before I leapt I wouldn’t have landed in this hefl -

hole to begin with.

Inmates assigned to the Special Management Unit didn’t go to the main school or
work with the inmates in general population. Being assigned to the SMU was our job, or
better said, our “program.” Those Smurfs who demonstrated the ability to dress
themselves, tie their shoes and brush thelr teeth were promoted to the next level. Those
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